0/a 9-4-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CASE NO. 69,814

MAY 14 1987 CLERK, SUPREME COURT /

By______ Deputy Clerk

JAMES KEHOE and MICKEY DeVIVO,

Petitioners,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF MARK KING LEBAN, P.A. 606 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-5500

and

HARRY GULKIN, ESQUIRE 1700 East Las Olas Boulevard Suite 300 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

BY: MARK KING LEBAN Counsel for Petitioners

TOPICAL

INTRODUCTION

Petitioners, JAMES KEHOE and MICKEY DeVIVO, were the appellees in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, and the defendants in the Circuit Court. Respondent, the STATE OF FLORIDA, was the appellant in the Fourth District and the prosecution in the Circuit Court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as the defendants and the State, respectively. The Record on Appeal transmitted to this Court by the Fourth District will be referred to by the symbol "R." All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendants were charged by information filed in the Circuit Court in and for Broward County, Florida on October 30, 1984 with trafficking in cannabis in that they had in their actual or constructive possession on October 14, 1984, over one hundred but less than two thousand pounds of marijuana. (R.137). The defendants entered pleas of not guilty (R.138-9), and subsequently filed a MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE, arising out of the warrantless stopping, search and seizure of their truck, trailer and vessel. (R.141-144). After a hearing held on November 25, 1985, before the Circuit Court (R.1-136), the trial judge entered an ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE. (R.145-146). The trial court found that the stop and detention of the defendants' vehicle were illegal.

The State thereafter filed a timely notice of appeal (R.152), and on November 26, 1986, the Fourth District issued its decision reversing the trial judge's order of suppression. That

decision is reported at 498 So.2d 560. See Appendix to this Brief. The defendants thereafter filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction, and this Court on April 14, 1987, issued its ORDER ACCEPTING JURISDICTION AND SETTING ORAL ARGUMENT.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The events giving rise to this case commenced at about 3:00 a.m. on October 14, 1984, when Deerfield Beach police patrol officer Lamar Williams observed a green Ford truck with a boat trailer attached parked at an intersection near a motel. (R.7-8). Officer Williams thought it "unusual" to see a boat trailer and truck in that area at that time of night. (R.8).

As part of his routine patrol, Williams drove toward where the truck and trailer were parked and was able to obtain the full license numbers for both the truck and the trailer. (R.9, 16-18). In order to do this, Williams did not need to exit his police vehicle and simply approached the trailer in his car to observe its tag, utilizing his headlights. (R.17). Williams "was able to see the tag" without physically going to the tag itself and noted its number, J61 891. (R.17-18). Although the tag was "slightly bent in a upward direction," since "it was readable" and Williams was able to read all of the numbers, he did not issue any citation. (R.9, 17-18). Williams testified that the tag was "[a]ctually...a relatively clean plate." (R.19).

Williams next observed the truck and boat trailer at about 5:45 a.m., this time parked at the Pioneer Park Boat Ramp, a city park which is open 24 hours a day. (R.9-10). The truck was facing southwest, in line with the boat ramp; the truck was "in a

no parking zone at that location," although it was at all times attended by a white male standing near by, who later became known as defendant Mickey DeVivo. (R.10). Officer Williams issued no citation and, although he was "suspicious," felt that the driver of the truck had not committed any violations of State law. (R.22).

Williams continued his surveillance for about one hour and observed defendant DeVivo leaning against the truck. (R.11). The truck and trailer were parked at a boat ramp where there is off and on loading of boats that come out of the water many times; it is a 24 hour park and there is no municipal ordinance that a boat cannot land and go up on a trailer at 6:00 a.m. and be driven away. It is "not a crime" for a truck to be there anticipating the arrival of a boat. (R.20). There was room for another truck or trailer at that particular ramp. (R.31).

As his tour of duty neared its end, Williams notified the Deerfield Beach police dispatcher to notify vice officers at home to advise them of his observations. (R.11). When Officer Williams met with the vice officers, Detective Sergeant Gary Null and Detective Jeff Hurt, he advised them of his observations, including the full tag numbers for both the truck and the trailer, further advising the detectives that his records check for both the truck and trailer revealed that they were not stolen and that there was nothing unusual. (R.46-7, 81, 89). In his relating of events to the detectives, Sergeant Williams gave no indication that the trailer's license tag was obscured in any fashion. (R.89). Prior to leaving his tour of duty, Williams took no police action although he was "suspicious" because of "[t]he hour." (R.20, 24).

Narcotics Detectives Null and Hurt have previously investigated "particular circumstances and procedures utilized by traffickers in gaining entry to the City of Deerfield." (R.27, 71). The officers had knowledge that drugs have previously been brought into Pioneer Park by the boat ramps. (R.30, 71). Detective Hurt has utilized a drug courier profile at train stations looking for "drug profile candidates" and has made stops and arrests based upon this profile. (R.85-6). On some occasions when stops and arrests have been made based upon the "drug profile criteria," "there is usually a violation and the people are stopped for that for a violation." (R.86). Detective Null is aware of "other intelligence from other agencies concerning smuggling through boat ramps." (R.40).

Prior to meeting with Officer Williams, Detective Null had no intelligence information that any boat was going to be laden with marijuana and arriving at the boat ramp; nor did he have any information that the green truck had been used in any prior criminal conduct. (R.59). Both Detectives Null and Hurt met with Officer Williams at the Deerfield Beach Police Department, some two hundred yards from where the truck and trailer were parked. (R.28). Detective Null had been contacted to meet with Williams "concerning a suspicious truck and trailer." (R.28). As stated, Officer Williams relayed his observations to the detectives, including uniformed patrol officer James Dusenbery who had also been told to proceed to Pioneer Park regarding "a suspicious" vehicle that was under surveillance. (R.101-2).All three officers were advised by Officer Williams that a check on the tags

for both the truck and trailer revealed nothing unusual. (R.46-8, 81, 89, 106).

Upon taking up surveillance, Detective Null observed defendant DeVivo sitting on a picnic table by the green truck with the attached boat trailer. (R.30). After some 10 to 25 minutes of surveillance, Detective Null observed DeVivo go to the cab of the truck and back the trailer down into the water on the ramp. (R.32). Null then observed that a thirty foot Scarab boat being piloted by defendant Kehoe was approaching the boat ramp. (R.33). The vessel was proceeding toward the ramp "creating somewhat of a wake" in an area that was a no-wake area. (R.34). In addition. Null observed that the operator, Defendant Kehoe, was "looking from side to side and behind him, looking around as if to be looking for somebody." (R.35). As the boat got closer, Null observed that there were no FL numbers on the left side of the boat; Null was unable to see whether there were numbers on the right side of the boat. (R.35-6, 42).

The officers observed the vessel ride right up onto the trailer and saw the truck pull the boat and trailer out of the water and proceed up the ramp for some 75 to 100 yards before

¹ No citation was ever issued for the FL number violation. (R.52). Detective Null admitted that he was "not very" experienced with the state or federal regulations requiring FL numbers on boats and was unable to recite the state or federal violation in question. In point of fact, sec. 327.11(5), Fla.Stat. (1983) required the vessel registration numbers to appear on the hull of the vessel. The legislature recently created sec. 327.73(1)(b), Fla.Stat. (1986 Supp.), providing that a violation of the above statute relating to display of number is a "noncriminal infraction." Neither of the detectives communicated this decal violation to any other law enforcement officer. (R.82).

stopping. (R.37, 70). Defendant Kehoe then jumped off of the boat and got into the driver's seat of the truck and then the truck proceeded to leave the park area. (R.37). Detective Null thought it "unusual" that the boat did not first stop on the ramp and that the plug of the boat was not pulled to allow water to drain from the vessel. (R.37-8). Detective Hurt thought it was "unusual" that the boat's operator was still inside the boat when the truck pulled it out of the water for the 75 to 100 yards before stopping, and without first securing the boat. (R.70). Detective Null had heard from other officers about boats being pulled out of the water in this fashion without pulling the plug for drainage (R.37-8) and Detective Hurt had heard of another occasion where a boat utilizing the same boat ramp was stopped and found to contain narcotics. (R.71).

Null thought it was "also unusual" for the boat and trailer to be driven away from the ramp "without the helmsman coming out of the boat," although he acknowledged that after driving up the ramp, the "helmsman" did get off the boat and enter the truck. (R.37)

Detective Hurt observed that it is "not normally" the procedure for a boat to pull away from the ramp with the operator still on the vessel and that "usually" people secure the boat on the trailer before pulling away. (R.72). Hurt also observed that there were "a few items of weight" in the bed of the truck, consisting of three containers of water, some large rocks which would be used for decoration of a lawn, and some bags of fertilizer. (R.73). Detective Hurt "suspected" that these items

were for additional weight "to assist the truck in pulling a heavy load on the ramp." (R.74).

As the truck and trailer with the vessel proceeded out of the area, Detective Null notified road patrol officer Dusenbery, who had previously been alerted, to make a stop of the truck and boat. (R.39, 52, 75, 83). The truck was not speeding away with the boat. (R.60-61). Detective Null based his decision to effectuate a stop of the truck and trailer on "other intelligence from other agencies concerning smuggling through boat ramps," and on the observations he had made. (R.40). He had concluded that "the vessel was being used to traffic in cannabis or a controlled substance." (R.40). In radioing dispatch to advise Officer Dusenberry to stop the truck, Detective Null did not advise that he believed there was any violation of State law regarding the FL number on the vessel, or that the truck and trailer had been illegally parked on the boat ramp. (R.53-4, 82). Detective Null merely asked Officer Dusenbery to stop the truck. (R.54, 83).2 Uniformed officer Dusenbery was not given any specifics as to the observations made by the officers, and in fact had no direct communication from them at all, simply making a "traffic stop" in response to a dispatch instruction. (R.93, 101).

Before making a u-turn and positioning himself to make the "traffic stop," Officer Dusenbery knew that there was "a suspicious incident that they [Null and Hurt] had been surveilling" and that this was the vehicle that they wanted stopped. (R.102).

² Both officers acknowledged that there was no "hot pursuit" of the truck and trailer. (R.63, 84).

Dusenbery acknowledged that had he not been directed to stop the truck and trailer, he would not have made the u-turn and would not have been behind the trailer. (R.102). Officer Dusenberry was going to stop this vehicle "no matter what" because that is what the other officers asked him to do. (R.104, 106). Dusenbery knew "ahead of time that Sergeant Williams had previously been able to visualize the tag and had already run a check on it." (R.106).

It was only after Detectives Null and Hurt had ordered Officer Dusenbery to effectuate the stop, and after Dusenbery positioned himself behind the truck and trailer, that he observed for the first time that the license tag on the trailer was bent and he could not read the whole tag. (R.94). Dusenbery had no information about the tag being bent prior to his following the vehicle to make the stop as directed by Dectives Null and Hurt. (R.108-9). The surveilling detectives, Null and Hurt, had previously been advised by Sergeant Williams that the full number of the license tags of both the truck and trailer were recorded and they had been given no information at all that the tag was obscured. (R.46-8, 81, 89, 106, 108-9).

Pursuant to his instructions, Officer Dusenbery pulled over the truck and trailer with the vessel attached. (R.94). After being stopped, the driver, Kehoe, and the passenger, DeVivo, exited and almost immediately thereafter, Detectives Hurt and Null arrived. (R.95-97). As Detective Null approached the rear of

³ All of the officers acknowledged that a stop and detention had been effectuated. (R.61, 83, 91). It was only after the stop was made that Detective Null observed that the tag of the trailer "was somewhat obscured." He testified that it appeared that "the vessel

the boat, he stepped up on the trailer and looked across the front of the vessel, observing a "rectangular shaped object" which he later determined to be a bale of cannabis. (R.41). Detective Hurt also stepped up onto the trailer and made the same observation. (R.77). The defendants were arrested and some seventy-seven bales of marijuana were later discovered in the vessel. (R.78). Other than the "not normal conduct" observed by Detective Hurt, Hurt could not smell any odor of marijuana coming from the boat prior to standing on the trailer; nor could he see any marijuana prior to doing so. (R.85).

At the hearing on defendants' motion to suppress, in response to a question from the trial judge, Officer Dusenbery stated that he "wouldn't consider it necessarily a dereliction of my duty" to ignore a person who is violating a tag requirement. (R.109). Defense counsel argued to the trial judge that Sergeant Williams had been able to observe the full license tag number of the trailer earlier in the morning and that it would be "legal fiction to suggest that that was the true basis of the stop of this vehicle" and that the surveilling officers "knew that the tag was legitimate. . .or nothing unusual about it five hours earlier." (R.117-18). The defense also argued that there was no

 $^{^3}$ (continued) going up on the trailer had bent the tag to where you could not see the last number of the tag." (R.42). Although he testified that he could not read the number on the tag after the stop was made, he acknowledged that he could read the last digit on the photograph of the tag admitted into evidence by the State. (R.42-3). In any event, it is clear that none of the surveilling or stopping officers where aware that the tag had been bent obscuring the last digit until after the order to stop the vehicles was issued. (R.46-8, 81, 89, 106, 108-9).

"articulable" suspicion to justify the stop, but merely a "bare suspicion." (R.118).

The trial judge inquired of the prosecutor if it was not the testimony of the officers that they observed the plate get bent and that they "know the number ahead of time." (R.121-2).⁴ Finally, the trial judge observed:

I am trying to separate probable cause to stop a boat and trailer full of contraband versus probable cause to stop a boat and trailer because there was a bent tag that my fellow officer observed getting bent a little while ago, because we read the tag number off of it before it got bent. (R.124).

In the course of its decision reversing the trial court's order of suppression (R.145-6), the Fourth District recognized the rule that "mere presence of an individual at an unusual hour in an area where previous crimes had been committed is not enough to support a founded suspicion of criminal activity." 498 So.2d at 562. However, the court found more than mere presence at an unusual hour in an area where crimes had been committed and held that the "trial court erred in finding that the officers lacked a sufficient basis to stop appellant's [sic] vehicle." Id. at 564.

As to the pretextual nature of the stop, the Fourth District, while observing that "there is no question but that the bent tag obscuring one of the digits is a comparatively minor

The court was, no doubt, recalling the State's direct examination of Detective Null where he testified that the tag of the trailer "was somewhat obscured. It appeared that the vessel going up on the trailer had bent the tag to where you could not see the last number of the tag." (R.42). The prosecutor "absolutely" denied that the officer so testified. (R.122).

infraction which would not necessarily result in a stop," id. at 565, held that it will no longer consider as relevant the severity of the infraction leading to a traffic stop, notwithstanding ulterior police motives to search, so long as "a police officer actually observed a traffic violation (as opposed to fabricating one as an excuse to make a stop). . . ". Id. at 565. The court further held that the severity of the traffic infraction "will not by this Court. . . be considered relevant to the question of the officer's authority to make the traffic stop." Id. In so doing, the Fourth District expressly rejected the rationale of the First⁵ and Second Districts and agreed instead with the "better rule" of the Third and Fifth Districts holding that so long as any citizen committing a minor traffic infraction could be stopped for the offense, the fact that the police officer would not have stopped a suspect but for further suspicion of criminal activity will not render it an unlawful "pretext" stop. Id. at 565.

This proceeding to invoke this Court's discretionary

See, e.g., <u>Porchay v. State</u>, 321 So.2d 439 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), <u>overruled in part on other grounds</u>, 403 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1981).

⁶ See, e.g., State v. Holmes, 256 So.2d 32 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971), aff'd, 273 So.2d 753 (Fla. 1972); State v. Gray, 366 So.2d 137 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); Diggs v. State, 345 So.2d 815 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied, 353 So.2d 679 (Fla. 1977).

Pascoy v. State, 424 So.2d 80 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); State v.
Ogburn, 483 So.2d 500 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Although the decision reviewed herein did not cite any Fifth District case, it is clear that the Fifth District has recently aligned itself with the Third District on the pretext issue. See State v. Irvin, 483 So.2d 461 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 491 So.2d 279 (Fla. 1986); Esteen v. State, 503 So.2d 356 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

review followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly suppressed the evidence seized by the police pursuant to an unlawful investigative stop of the defendants' vehicle where that stop was based upon a bare suspicion or hunch of criminal activity predicated upon the justly condemned "drug courier profile." There was nothing unique or unduly suspicious about the defendants' conduct in driving their boat onto a trailer in a public park open for 24 hours and utilized for precisely that purpose. Viewed in isolation or in their totality, all of the observations made by the surveilling police officers were consistent with entirely innocent conduct. Whether the officers utilized an impermissible "drug courier profile" or not, their investigative detention of the defendants was not predicated on reasonable or founded suspicion of criminal activity.

The Fourth District's alternative basis for rejecting the trial judge's presumptively correct order of suppression is that the police stop of the defendants' vehicle was justified on the basis of a slightly bent license tag of the trailer pulling the boat. The Fourth District's ruling that it will no longer assess the gravity of a minor traffic infraction, notwithstanding objective evidence that police harbored an unfounded suspicion of criminal activity, creates a dangerous and unnecessary rule, especially where, as here, the objective evidence clearly demonstrates that the minor traffic infraction was not known to the police until after their decision to stop the vehicle based on their mere suspicion of criminal activity. This case presents a

classic example of a pretextual stop. In determining whether an investigative stop is invalid as pretextual, the proper inquiry is whether a reasonable officer would have made the seizure in the absence of illegitimate motivation. Because the objective evidence in the case at bar suggests that a reasonable officer would not have stopped the defendants without an invalid purpose to obtain evidence of additional criminal activity, the stop must be deemed pretextual and the trial court correctly granted suppression of the evidence.

QUESTION PRESENTED

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