IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORID

SID J. WILTE

OE and
DeVIVO,
Petitioners,

CASE NO 69,81

FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES KEHOE and MICKEY DeVIVO,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

AMY L. DIEM Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting the motion to suppress where the police had a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity which had a factual foundation in the circumstances observed by the officers when interpreted in light of the officers' knowledge. Although each factor taken alone might not have given rise to a founded suspicion of criminal activity, taken together as viewed by experienced police officers they provided clear justification for the stop.

The trial court also erred in granting the motion to suppress where the officer made a proper stop for a traffic violation. Petitioner would have this Court scrutinize the gravity of the offense for which a vehicle was stopped in assessing the legality of the stop. This type of analysis would involve highly subjective determinations of which traffic violations are sufficiently severe such that an average person would routinely be stopped for them. One police officer would routinely stop for an offense that another might not. A police officer's authority should not be circumscribed by such judicial hair-splitting. As long as there is an objective basis for the stop, this Court should not concern itself with the officer's motivations in making the stop. The stop in the present case would have been made for the license tag violation alone, aside from the suspicions of the detaining officer. Not only would a reasonable officer have made the stop in question, but the proper inquiry is whether an officer could have made the stop in question. Because the record reveals that the officer would have stopped Petitioners for the tag violation, regardless of the directive he received, the stop was proper and the trial court erred in granting the motion to suppress.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHERE THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES PROVIDED A FOUNDED SUSPICION OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY AND WHERE THE OFFICER STOPPING THE VEHICLE WITNESSED A TRAFFIC VIOLATION.

Respondent maintains that the stop made by Dusenbery at the direction of Hurt and Null was proper where the officer giving the direction has observed sufficient activity to form the basis for a founded suspicion. See McClendon v. State, 440 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1 DCA 1983); Crawford v. State, 334 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3 DCA 1976). The relevant founded suspicion here is that of the officers who actually observed the activities of Petitioners; namely, Null, Hurt and Williams. Respondent maintains that it is the aggregate of these circumstances, interpreted in light of these officers' knowledge, which provided a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity such as to justify the stop. Although none of these facts taken alone might have given rise to a founded suspicion of criminal activity, taken together as viewed by experienced officers they provided clear justification for the stop of Petitioner.

In <u>Tamer v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1986), this Court recognized that an aggregate of factors, when viewed by an experienced police officer, could provide the founded suspicion necessary to justify a detention. This Court relied on <u>United States v.Cortez</u>, 449 U.S. 411 (1981) which sought to define the "elusive concept of what cause is sufficient to authorize police to stop a person":

But the essence of all that has been written is that the totality of the circumstances -- the whole picture -- must be taken into account. Based upon that whole

picture the detaining officers must have a particularized and objective basis for suspecting the particular person stopped of criminal activity.

The idea that an assessment of the whole picture must yield a particularized suspicion contains two elements, each of which must be present before a stop is permissible. First, the assessment must be based upon all of the circumstances. The analysis proceeds with various objective observations, information from police reports, if such are available, and consideration of the modes or patterns or operation of certain kinds of lawbreakers. From these data, a trained officer draws inferences and makes deductions — inferences and deductions that might well elude an untrained person.

The process does not deal with hard certainties, but with probabilities. Long before the law of probabilities was articulated as such, practical people formulated certain common-sense conclusions about human behavior; juries as factfinders are permitted to do the same —— and so are law enforcement officers. Finally, the evidence thus collected must be seen and weighed not in terms of library analysis by scholars, but as understood by those versed in the field of law enforcement.

The second element contained in the idea that an assessment of the whole picture must yield a particular suspicion is the concept that the process just described must raise a suspicion that the particular individual being stopped is engaged in wrong-doing.

<u>United States v. Cortez</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 417-418, Florida Courts continue to recognize that founded suspicion is that reasonable suspicion which has some factual foundation in the circumstances observed by the officer when interpreted in light of the officer's knowledge. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Watts v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 256 (Fla. 2 DCA 1986); <u>Clements v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), <u>review denied</u> 408 So.2d 1092; State v. Stevens, 354 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 4 DCA 1978).

Petitioners posit that the officer had but a "bare suspicion" or "hunch" of drug activity. Respondent submits that Petitioner's analysis is incorrect where it seeks to view each factor in isolation of each other. This approach ignores that the circumstances witnessed by the officer must be viewed in there totality. United States v. Cortez, supra.

Respondent submits that Petitioners' reliance on State v. Levin,
452 So.2d 1562 (Fla. 1984); Mullens v. State, 366 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1978);

Coladonato v. State, 348 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1977); and Freeman v. State, 433

So.2d 9 (Fla. 2 DCA 1983) is misplaced. The case sub judice involves much more than mere presence of Petitioners at an unusual, early morning hour in a location where illegal drug trafficking had previously occurred as the Fourth District recognized. 498 So.2d at 562.

Moreover, the instant case is distinguishable from <u>Carter v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 739 (Fla. 2 DCA 1984), wherein two police officers observed the defendant and others sitting in a parked vehicle outside a lounge at 9:00 p.m. The interior light was on and the officers observed the defendants looking around prior to bending down in the front seat. The appellate court reversed the denial of the motion to suppress, finding that the stop was based on nothing more than a mere "hunch". Certainly, in the case at bar there were more factors present than just the suspicious activities of Kehoe, the boat operator, looking from side to side and behind him. (R 35).

Similarly, <u>Romanello v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 220 (Fla. 4 DCA 1978) does not support Petitioners' position. <u>Romanello</u> is distinguishable from the case at bar where the present case presents far more egregious circumstances than that of <u>Romanello</u>. In <u>Romanello</u>, one defendant was attempting to trailer a boat and was encountering difficulties in this regard. The officers thought the boat seemed heavily loaded. The appellate court reversed the denial of

the motion to suppress, finding that all the officers had to base a suspicion on was the weighted down appearance of the boat and the difficulties encountered in maneuvering it. Respondent submits Romanello presents markedly weaker facts. In the instant case, the boat operator was looking around as he approached the boat ramp. (R 35). This is coupled with the haste with which Petitioners loaded the boat onto the trailer and left the park. The boat created a wake in a no wake zone (R 34) and after the boat was loaded, Kehoe failed to get down from the boat and secure it or pull the plug to allow the water to drain. (R 37-38, 70). Instead, he remained on the boat as DeVivo pulled it out of the water and proceeded through the park. (R 37, 70). Finally, the truck which pulled the boat out of the water was weighted down as if to assist in pulling a heavy load. (R 74).

State v. Arnold, 475 So.2d 301 (Fla. 2 DCA 1985), is similarly distinguishable. In Arnold, the trial court's suppression of evidence as to defendants Gardiner and Whitehurst was upheld as not based on reasonable suspicion. The ruling was clearly correct, where these two defendants were not even seen on or in the boat and indeed, were not located in the surrounding area until the next morning. In Arnold, the deputies' suspicions were only aroused due to the defendant's personal appearance, nervousness, and nothing more.

Clearly, the present case is more akin to the line of cases which acknowledge that, although each factor taken separately would not support a founded suspicion, where <u>all</u> of the factors are taken together a founded suspicion of criminal activity arises. A recent example of this type of case is this Court's decision in <u>Tamer v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Tamer</u>, an officer observed the defendant driving a vehicle with an open tailgate through the

parking lot of a plaza that had experienced a rash of recent fires. The plaza was closed at this time. Upon observing a patrol car, the defendant made a sharp U-turn with his tires squealing and drove to a nearby restaurant where he parked his car. This Court found that the circumstances observed by the officer, a seven and one-half year veteran police officer, were sufficient for him to reasonably suspect the defendant of criminal activity. Although none of the facts standing alone might have given rise to a founded suspicion, taken together as viewed by an experienced police officer they provided clear justification for the stop.

Similarly, in <u>Maull v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 821 (Fla. 2 DCA 1986), the Second District relied on this Court's decision in <u>Tamer</u>, <u>supra</u>, to find that the circumstances were sufficient to give rise to a reasonable suspicion justifying the stop of a vehicle in which the defendant was a passenger; The defendant had been dropped off in a parking lot late at night and stood in the shadows. The defendant crouched behind parked cars when any car drove by and appeared nervous and agitated, and was subsequently picked up by the same vehicle.

Similarly, in State v. Lawson, 446 So.2d 202 (Fla. 3rd DCA), reviewed denied, 453 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1984), the trial court's granting of a motion to suppress was reversed where the officer's stop of the defendant's vehicle was based upon his observation of the defendant driving slowly around the block four or five times at an early morning hour, and on the officer's knowledge that buildings in that block had been burglarized in recent months.

Finally, in <u>State v. King</u>, 485 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 5 DCA 1986) error was found on the part of the trial court in granting a motion to suppress where the officer stopped the defendant's vehicle on a combination of factors. In King, the police observed the defendants drive by slowly and park at a bar

known for drug dealing and observed a car back up to the rear door of a building with it's engine running in a manner so as to provide a quick exit, thus giving rise to a founded suspicion of criminal activity. King is a case not dissimilar to the one at bar where in the instant case, the officers had knowledge that drugs had previously been brought into Pioneer Park by the boat ramps. (R 30, 71). The Petitioners' actions sub judice, as previously stated, indicate that they were in a big hurry to get the boat out of the water and leave the park. Lawson, supra, and King, supra, are illustrative of the cummulative effort of all of the unusual circumstances. See also, State v. Austin, 490 So.2d 104 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) (aggregate circumstances supported a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity). Thus, as found by the Fourth District, the trial court erred in finding that the officers lacked a sufficient basis to stop Petitioners' vehicle.

Petitioners next contend that the officers stopped the vehicle based upon the so-called "drug courier profile". Respondent submits that Petitioners' argument is without merit where none of the officers testified that Petitioner was stopped on the basis of a drug courier profile. These facts simply do not exist in the present case. Just because Hurt testified on cross-examination that he had used a profile at such places as train
stations
to make stops (R 85-86), and the officers had previously been given information from other agencies concerning smuggling through boat ramps (R 40), and the officers were aware that drugs had bee brought into their county through boat ramps at Pioneer Park (R 30), does not compel the conclusion that the Petitioners were stopped on the basis of a drug courier profile. Petitioners seek to creat their own profile from selected excerpts of the record. None of the officers testified that boats which arrive at

- 13 -

Pioneer Park and which do not have their plug pulled comprise a characteristic of a drug courier profile. (R 30, 37-38, 71). The fact that the officers collected intelligence from other agencies concerning smuggling through boat ramps does not necessarily imply that a drug courier profile was compiled with regard to smuggling by boat and that one was used in the present case. No testimony was elicited that the officers used a drug courier profile to make a stop of Petitioner or that the Petitioners even fit within the profile (R 86). Thus, Respondent maintains that Petitioners' argument that the use of a drug courier profile is insufficient as a matter of law to constitute reasonable suspicion lacks support in the record and is, consequently, without merit.

However, to respond to Petitioners' argument, Respondent would point out that drug courier and other criminal profiles are not <u>per se</u> invalid and some have been upheld. <u>United States v. Sharpe</u>, 470 U.S. 675 (1985); <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 471 (1983); <u>United States v. Cortez</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 502 the Court concluded that the fact that the defendant was traveling under an assumed name, in addition to his behavior and appearance, which fit the drug courier's profile, was sufficient to suspect him of carrying drugs and to detain him for the purpose of investigating that suspicion.

Similarly, in <u>Florida v. Rodriguez</u>, 469 U.S. 1 (1984), although the defendants were travelers stopped at the airport, the suspects had already exhibited sufficient suspicious behavior when stopped. Before the defendants were even stopped, they had sighted the plainclothes police officers and spoken furtively to one another. On was overheard urging the other to "get out of here". One defendant's strange movements in an attempt to evade the officer

aroused further justifiable suspicion, as did the contradictory statements by the two defendants regarding their identities.

Respondent maintains that the Petitioners' unique conduct at bar extended well beyond any alleged profile behavior and that the instant case is thus distinguishable from Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438 (1980); Jacobson v. State, 476 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); Kayes v. State, 409 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981), review denied 424 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1982) and Oesterle v. State, 382 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 2 DCA 1980). The instant case presents facts stronger and more in line with Royer, supra, and Rodriguez, supra, than the weaker facts of the cases relied upon by the Petitioners which present little suspicious behavior beyond the "profile" characteristics. At bar, Petitioners contend that the profile used consisted of the "use of the boat ramps at Pioneer Park in the early morning hours where the operator of the boat does not drain the vessel or secure it prior to driving up the ramp, and where 'items of weight' are suspected to be used to assist the vehicle in pulling a heavy load up the ramp" (AB 24). The instant case, apart from any alleged profile similarities presents additional unique factors which serve to create a justifiable suspicion of criminal activity in the minds of the officers. First, Kehoe was observed furtively looking around as he approached the boat ramp. The boat contained no registration numbers on the only side of the boat Null could observe (R 35-36, 42). Further, all of the Petitioners' actions

²It should be noted that the type and size of the boat, a 30 foot Scarab (R 33), were not factors seized upon by the trial counsel as being a further "profile" characteristic.

 $^{^3}$ The decal violation of §327.11(5), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> was a second degree misdemeanor pursuant to §327.72(2) at the time of the crimes.

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